2

Second Rényi entropy and annulus partition function for one-dimensional quantum critical systems with boundaries

Benoit Estienne, Yacine Ikhlef and Andrei Rotaru

Sorbonne Université, CNRS, Laboratoire de Physique Théorique et Hautes Énergies, LPTHE, F-75005 Paris, France

Abstract

We consider the entanglement entropy in critical one-dimensional quantum systems with open boundary conditions. We show that the second Rényi entropy of an interval *away from the boundary* can be computed exactly, provided the same conformal boundary condition is applied on both sides. The result involves the annulus partition function. We compare our exact result with numerical computations for the critical quantum Ising chain with open boundary conditions. We find excellent agreement, and we analyse in detail the finite-size corrections, which are known to be much larger than for a periodic system.

Copyright B. Estienne <i>et al</i> .	Received 17-12-2021	
This work is licensed under the Creative Commons	Accepted 24-03-2022	
Attribution 4.0 International License.	Published 29-04-2022	updates
Published by the SciPost Foundation.	doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.12.	4.141

Contents

Introduction

1

•	Interv		-
2	Exac	ct calculation of the second Rényi entropy	5
	2.1	Conformal equivalence to the annulus	5
	2.2	Rényi entropy of an interval in the bulk	6
	2.3	Rényi Entropy of an interval touching the boundary	9
	2.4	Compact boson	9
	2.5	Other entanglement measures	10
		2.5.1 Small interval in the bulk	12
		2.5.2 Interval touching the boundary	12
3	Com	parison with numerics and finite-size scaling	13
	3.1	Rényi entropy in a quantum Ising chain	13
	3.2	Finite-size effects	16
4	Con	clusion	17
A	Con	ventions and identities for elliptic functions	19
	A.1	Jacobi theta functions	19
	A.2	Elliptic integral of the first kind	20
	A.3	Weierstrass elliptic function	20

B	Alternative derivation of the second Rényi entropy for A_n minimal models	21
С	Annulus partition function for the compact boson	22
Re	ferences	23

1 Introduction

The study of quantum entanglement has become a central research field in theoretical highenergy and condensed-matter physics. While the initial motivations stemmed from black hole physics and the holographic principle [1–4], entanglement now finds important applications in low-energy physics, such as the development of tensor network algorithms to simulate strongly-correlated quantum systems [5–7]. More generally, entanglement is a very powerful probe of quantum many-body physics. It can detect phase transitions, extract the central charge and critical exponents of critical points in one-dimensional systems [8–11]. In two dimensions, the entanglement entropy can detect and count critical Dirac fermions [12–15] as well as intrinsic topological order, and extract the various anyonic quantum dimensions [16, 17]. It can also uncover and identify gapless interface modes in both two [18–22] and higher dimensions [23, 24].

Given a quantum system in a pure state $|\Psi\rangle$, the entanglement between two complementary subregions *A* and *B* is encoded in the reduced density matrix $\rho_A = \text{Tr}_B |\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|$. The amount of entanglement can be quantified by entanglement entropies, such as the von Neumann entropy

$$S(A) = -\mathrm{Tr}_A(\rho_A \log \rho_A), \qquad (1.1)$$

or the Rényi entropies [25-29]

$$S_n(A) = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \operatorname{Tr}_A(\rho_A^n), \qquad (1.2)$$

where *n* can be any complex number. In particular, the full spectrum of ρ_A , called the *entangle-ment spectrum*, can be recovered from the knowledge of all Rényi entropies [30]. While most of the focus on entanglement entropies has been theoretical, in the past few years there have been many experimental proposals as well as actual experiments to measure them [31–36].

Computing entanglement entropies for strongly-correlated quantum systems is typically a difficult problem. However, if the system is one-dimensional and critical, the full power of two-dimensional Conformal Field Theory (CFT) can be brought to bear. Perhaps the most famous result in this context is the universal asymptotic behaviour [3, 8, 9, 37–39]

$$S_n(\ell) \sim \frac{c}{6} \frac{n+1}{n} \log \ell, \qquad (\ell \to \infty), \tag{1.3}$$

for the entanglement entropy of an interval of length ℓ in an infinite system (in the above, c is the central charge of the critical system). CFT computations of entanglement entropies rest on two important insights. First, for integer values of n, and if A is the union of some disjoint intervals, the quantity $\text{Tr}_A(\rho_A^n)$ can be expressed as a partition function on an n-sheeted Riemann surface with conical singularities corresponding to the endpoints of the intervals [3,9]. Such partition functions are difficult to evaluate in general, although important results have been obtained for free theories and other particular cases [10, 11, 40–48]. This is where

the second insight becomes crucial. Borrowing a trick from the high-energy physics toolbox of the 1980's, one trades the replication of the *spacetime* of the theory to a replication of the *field space* of the CFT [49–51]. Such a construction, known in the literature as the *cyclic orbifold CFT* [50], consists of *n* copies of the original CFT (referred to as *the mother CFT*), which are modded by the discrete group \mathbb{Z}_n of cyclic permutations. The conical singularities of the mother CFT are accounted for by insertions of *twist operators* [49] in orbifold correlators. Thus, the evaluation of $\text{Tr}_A(\rho_A^n)$ becomes a matter of computing correlators of twist operators. This orbifold approach is very general and flexible, as twist operators can be easily adapted to encode modified initial conditions around the branch points [52], which is relevant for instance in the case of non-unitary systems [52, 53] or for symmetry-resolved entanglement entropy [54–58].

In this article, we consider the entanglement entropy in an open system, when the subregion *A* is a single interval *away from the boundary*. In the scaling limit, such an open critical system is described by a Boundary Conformal Field Theory (BCFT), with a well-established [59–61] correspondence between the chiral Virasoro representations and the *conformal boundary conditions* (BC) allowed by the theory. The case of an interval touching the boundary has been extensively studied (see [62] for a review) using either conformal field theory methods [9, 39, 63–65] or exact free fermion methods [66–68], including symmetry-resolved entropies [69]. It has also been checked numerically using density-matrix renormalization group techniques [70–73]. When the subregion *A* is an interval at the end of a semi-infinite line, or at the end of a finite system with the same boundary condition on both sides, the computation of the Rényi entanglement entropy boils down to the evaluation of a twist one-point function on the upper half-plane. Such a correlation function is simply fixed by conformal invariance, and as a consequence the entanglement entropy exhibits again a simple space dependence, similarly to (1.3). For instance, in the case of an interval of length ℓ at the end of a semi-infinite line one finds ¹ [9]

$$S_n(\ell) \sim \frac{c}{12} \frac{n+1}{n} \log 2\ell + \log g_\alpha, \qquad (\ell \to \infty), \tag{1.4}$$

where g_{α} is the *universal boundary entropy* [74] associated to the boundary condition α .

In contrast, there are very few results for an interval *away from the boundary*, mainly because the CFT computation is much more involved. Indeed, after a proper conformal mapping, one has to compute a two-twist correlation function in the upper half-plane, which is no longer a simple power law fixed by conformal symmetry. As a consequence, the corresponding entanglement entropy is generally not known, despite some partial recent results for free scalar fields [75, 76], or in the large central charge limit [77]. In this article, we report an exact computation of the second Rényi entropy S_2 of a single interval in the ground state of a 1D critical system with open boundaries, assuming the same boundary conditions on both sides: see Fig. 1.

As mentioned above, the calculation rests on the evaluation of a two-point function of twist operators on the infinite strip. With the restriction that the same conformal boundary condition α is chosen on both sides of the system, this boils down to the computation of the two-twist correlation function on the unit disk \mathbb{D} (with no boundary operator inserted). The main result of this paper is the computation of this two-twist correlation function in terms of the annulus partition function of the mother CFT:

$$\langle \sigma(0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = g_{\alpha}^{-2} 2^{-\frac{c}{3}} \left[|x|^2 (1-|x|^2) \right]^{-\frac{c}{24}} Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau), \qquad (1.5)$$

where σ denotes the twist operator in the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold CFT, *c* is the central charge and $Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau)$ is the partition function on the annulus of unit circumference, width Im $\tau/2$, and boundary

¹up to an additive non-universal constant coming from the normalization of the lattice twist operator



Figure 1: A generic bipartition of a 1D system with boundary condition α on both ends.

condition α on both edges. The parameter τ (which is pure imaginary) is related to x via:

$$\left[\frac{\theta_2(\tau)}{\theta_3(\tau)}\right]^2 = |x|, \quad \text{or equivalently} \quad \tau(x,\bar{x}) = i \frac{{}_2F_1\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2},1;1-|x|^2\right)}{{}_2F_1\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2},1;|x|^2\right)}, \tag{1.6}$$

where the $\theta_j(\tau)$'s are the Jacobi elliptic functions (see appendix A.1). Moreover, the universal boundary entropy g_a , appearing in (1.4–1.5), can be simply defined in terms of BCFT states – see (2.26). These results are completely general, and apply to any mother CFT with a known annulus partition function. This includes, of course, CFTs built from minimal models and Wess-Zumino-Witten models [78,79], free and compactified bosonic CFTs [80] to name a few. This result is reminiscent of the well-known relation between the twist four-point function on the sphere and the torus partition function $Z(\tau, \bar{\tau})$ [49,81,82]

$$\langle \sigma(0)\sigma(\eta,\bar{\eta})\sigma(1)\sigma(\infty)\rangle_{\mathbb{C}} = 4^{-\frac{c}{3}} |\eta(1-\eta)|^{-\frac{c}{12}} Z(\tau,\bar{\tau}), \qquad \eta = \left[\frac{\theta_2(\tau)}{\theta_3(\tau)}\right]^4.$$
(1.7)

The final result for the S_2 entropy of an interval A = [u, v] in a system of length L is, up to an additive non-universal constant coming from the normalization of the lattice twist operator :

$$S_{2}^{\alpha}([u,v]) = \frac{c}{24} \log \left[s_{L}(2u) s_{L}(2v) s_{L}^{2}(v+u) s_{L}^{2}(v-u) \right] + 2 \log g_{\alpha} - \log Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau),$$
(1.8)

where we have introduced the shorthand notation

$$s_L(w) = \frac{2L}{\pi} \sin \frac{\pi w}{2L} \,. \tag{1.9}$$

The parameter τ is related to the position of the interval [u, v] (where 0 < u < v < L) via

$$\frac{\sin\frac{\pi(\nu-u)}{2L}}{\sin\frac{\pi(\nu+u)}{2L}} = \left[\frac{\theta_2(\tau)}{\theta_3(\tau)}\right]^2.$$
(1.10)

We give here the organization of the paper. Section 2 provides a detailed derivation of the main result (1.8) and a non-trivial check that our calculation does recover the result of [9, 63, 67] for the S_2 Rényi entropy of an interval *A* touching the boundary. We also recover the known results for the Dirac fermion [66, 83, 84] and more generally the compact scalar field of [75]. Lastly, we extend our results to exact expressions for the mutual information and the entropy distance in specific situations. In Section 3, we present some numerical checks of (1.8) for the particular case of the Ising spin chain, using an efficient numerical method known as *Peschel's trick*, which allows the numerical determination of the entanglement spectrum for fermionic chains of system sizes up to $N \sim 10^3$ sites. We also carry a careful analysis of the

finite-size effects. In Section 4, we conclude with a recapitulation of our results and comment on future directions for exploration. The Appendices A, B and C contain respectively our notations and conventions for elliptic functions, an alternate derivation of the main result based on boundary CFT techniques applied to the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold, and the computation of the bosonic annulus partition function.

2 Exact calculation of the second Rényi entropy

We consider a one-dimensional quantum critical system of finite length *L*, with open boundary conditions, and at zero temperature. We are interested in the second Rényi entropy of an interval [u, v]. The critical point is assumed to be described by a CFT. For a large enough system, the boundary flows to a renormalisation-group fixed point. We will therefore assume that the boundary condition is scale invariant. For a given bulk universality class, there is a set of possible such conformal boundary conditions $\{B_{\alpha}\}$ [59], [61], [60], [85]. We restrict to the case where the same boundary conditions are applied at the two ends of the system, and we assume that there is a non-degenerate ground state $|\psi_0\rangle$.

Evaluating the second Rényi entropy $S_2^{\alpha}([u, v])$ boils down to the computation of the following correlator in the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of the original CFT [39], [9], [77], [71]:

$$\langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v})\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{l}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = \exp[-S_{2}^{\alpha}([u,v])], \qquad (2.1)$$

where σ denotes the twist operator². This correlator is evaluated on the infinite strip (with imaginary time running along the imaginary axis) $\mathbb{S}_L = \{w \in \mathbb{C}, 0 < \operatorname{Re}(w) < L\}$ of width *L* with boundary condition (α, α) on both sides of the strip. Alternatively this two-point function is equal to the following ratio of partition functions [3,9]:

$$\left\langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v})\right\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{t}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = Z_{2}(u,v)/Z_{1}^{2},$$
(2.2)

where Z_1 stands for the strip partition function, and $Z_2(u, v)$ stands for the partition function on a two-sheeted covering of the infinite strip with branch points at u and v, being understood that all edges have the same conformal boundary condition α . The main result of this paper rests on the fact that this Riemann surface (once compactified) is conformally equivalent to an annulus, as was observed in [77]. It is therefore not surprising that the two-twist correlation function is equal, up to some universal prefactors, to the annulus partition function. We present two different ways to derive this result. The first method, which we now detail, is more geometric in nature : we unfold the two-sheeted Riemann surface into an annulus via an explicit conformal mapping. The second method, which is more algebraic, is based on Cardy's mirror trick [59,85] applied to the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold. This second approach, which employs a larger set of BCFT and orbifold concepts, has been relegated to Appendix B to avoid congesting the logical flow of the article.

2.1 Conformal equivalence to the annulus

In order to construct an explicit conformal map between the two-sheeted strip and the annulus, it is convenient to first map the strip to the unit disk via

$$w \mapsto z = \frac{s_L(w-u)}{s_L(w+u)}, \qquad s_L(w) = \frac{2L}{\pi} \sin \frac{\pi w}{2L}.$$
 (2.3)

²Here, even though *u* and *v* are real, and hence $u = \bar{u}$ and $v = \bar{v}$, we use the standard notations $\sigma(u, \bar{u})$ and $\sigma(v, \bar{v})$ for bulk operators, which emphasizes the fact that the correlation function is not a holomorphic function of *u* and *v*.

The above conformal map also sends the two-sheeted strip (with branch points at w = u and w = v) to the two-sheeted unit disk $\mathbb{D}_{2,x}$ with branch points at z = 0 and z = x, with

$$x = \frac{s_L(v-u)}{s_L(v+u)} = \frac{\sin\frac{\pi}{2L}(v-u)}{\sin\frac{\pi}{2L}(v+u)}.$$
 (2.4)

Note that *x* is real, and 0 < x < 1. Let us now describe the conformal mapping sending $\mathbb{D}_{2,x}$ to an annulus. First, for any complex number τ with $\text{Im } \tau > 0$, the function

$$t \mapsto z = g(t) = \left(\frac{\theta_4(t|\tau)}{\theta_1(t|\tau)}\right)^2 \tag{2.5}$$

is a biholomorphic map from the torus of modular parameter τ to the double-sheeted cover of the Riemann sphere with four branch points at positions

$$g(0) = \infty, \quad g\left(\frac{1+\tau}{2}\right) = x, \quad g\left(\frac{\tau}{2}\right) = 0, \quad g\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{x}, \tag{2.6}$$

with

$$x = \left(\frac{\theta_2(\tau)}{\theta_3(\tau)}\right)^2, \qquad \tau = i \frac{{}_2F_1\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 1; 1 - x^2\right)}{{}_2F_1\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 1; x^2\right)},\tag{2.7}$$

and where the $\theta_j(t,q)$'s are Jacobi theta functions (see Appendix A.1 for definitions and conventions). Using the properties (A.3) of these functions, we readily see that the function *g* satisfies the identity:

$$g(t + \tau/2) = g(t)^{-1},$$
 (2.8)

for any *t* on the torus. In the present situation, since 0 < x < 1, the modular parameter τ is pure imaginary, with Im $\tau > 0$. Then, from the above relation we get

$$g\left(\frac{\tau}{2} + \bar{t}\right) = \overline{g(t)^{-1}}.$$
(2.9)

Now notice that identifying *t* and $\tau/2 + \bar{t}$ amounts to folding the torus into an annulus of unit width, and height Im $\tau/2$

$$\mathbb{A}_{\tau} = \left\{ t \in \mathbb{C}/\mathbb{Z}, \qquad \frac{\operatorname{Im} \tau}{4} \le \operatorname{Im} t \le \frac{3 \operatorname{Im} \tau}{4} \right\}, \qquad (2.10)$$

while identifying z and $1/\bar{z}$ on the two-sheeted Riemann sphere yields the two-sheeted unit disk $\mathbb{D}_{2,x}$. In essence, these foldings are the reverse of Cardy's mirror trick [59]. The relation (2.9) ensures that the map g descends to the quotient, yielding a biholomorphic map from the annulus \mathbb{A}_{τ} to the two-sheeted unit disk $\mathbb{D}_{2,x}$, as shown in Figure 2.

2.2 Rényi entropy of an interval in the bulk

Recall that the twist σ is a primary operator of conformal dimensions $h_{\sigma} = \bar{h}_{\sigma} = c/16$ in the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold CFT. Using conformal covariance under the map (2.3), we can relate the twist correlation functions on the strip and on the unit disk:

$$\left\langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v})\right\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{L}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = \left(s_{L}(u+v)\right)^{-c/4} \left\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\right\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)},\tag{2.11}$$

where

$$x = \bar{x} = \frac{s_L(v-u)}{s_L(u+v)} \ge 0.$$
(2.12)



Figure 2: The annulus \mathbb{A}_{τ} – *fundamental domain pictured here* – is mapped through *g* to the two-sheeted disk $\mathbb{D}_{2,x}$. The black edges are identified.

The strategy (adapted from [49]) to compute $\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}$ in terms of an annulus partition function is the following. We insert the stress-energy tensor T_{orb} into the twist correlation function on the unit disk, and study the behaviour of the function $\langle T_{\text{orb}}(z)\sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}$ as $z \to x$. Since σ is a primary operator, we have the OPE

$$T_{\rm orb}(z)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) = \frac{h_{\sigma}\sigma(x,\bar{x})}{(z-x)^2} + \frac{\partial_x\sigma(x,\bar{x})}{z-x} + \text{regular terms}, \qquad (2.13)$$

and thus

$$\partial_{x} \log \langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\mathcal{C}_{x}} \frac{\langle T_{\text{orb}}(z)\sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}}{\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}} dz, \qquad (2.14)$$

where the integration contour C_x encloses the point x and goes anti-clockwise. However, in (2.13) and (2.14) the parameter x stands for a complex variable (independent of \bar{x}). Setting $x = \bar{x}$ thus yields

$$\partial_{x} \left(\log \langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} \Big|_{x=\bar{x}} \right) = 2 \times \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\mathcal{C}_{x}} \frac{\langle T_{\text{orb}}(z)\sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}}{\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}} dz \,. \tag{2.15}$$

We will drop the $|_{x=\bar{x}}$, but from now on x is assumed – without loss of generality – to be real positive, with 0 < x < 1.

In terms of the mother theory, $\langle T_{\text{orb}}(z)\sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}$ is the one-point function of the stress-energy tensor on the two-sheeted surface $\mathbb{D}_{2,x}$. Since $T_{\text{orb}}(z) = T(z) \otimes \mathbb{I} + \mathbb{I} \otimes T(z)$, we can write

$$\frac{\langle T_{\rm orb}(z)\sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle}}{\langle\sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle}} = 2\langle T(z)\rangle_{\mathbb{D}_{2,x}}^{\alpha}, \qquad (2.16)$$

where the last equality comes from the symmetry under the exchange of the two copies of the unit disk. The last step is to compute $\langle T(z) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}_{2,x}}^{\alpha}$ by exploiting the conformal equivalence between the two-sheeted cover of the disk $\mathbb{D}_{2,x}$ and the annulus \mathbb{A}_{τ} via the map z = g(t) described in (2.5):

$$\langle T(z) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}_{2,x}}^{\alpha} = \left(\frac{dt}{dz}\right)^2 \langle T(t) \rangle_{\mathbb{A}_{\tau}}^{\alpha} + \frac{c}{12} \{t, z\}, \qquad (2.17)$$

where $\{t, z\}$ denotes the Schwarzian derivative of the map g. First, the one-point function of T(z) on the annulus is

$$\langle T(t) \rangle^{\alpha}_{\mathbb{A}_{\tau}} = 2i\pi \partial_{\tau} \log Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau), \qquad (2.18)$$

where $Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau)$ denotes the partition function on the annulus \mathbb{A}_{τ} (with boundary condition α on both edges). Let $|\alpha\rangle$ be the boundary state associated to the boundary condition α . Since \mathbb{A}_{τ} has unit width, and height $\beta/2 = -i\tau/2$, we have

$$Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau) = \langle \alpha | e^{i\pi\tau(L_0 + \bar{L}_0 - c/12)} | \alpha \rangle.$$
(2.19)

We can exploit the differential equation (A.17) obeyed by the map z = g(t), namely

$$\left(\frac{dt}{dz}\right)^2 = -\frac{1}{4\pi^2\theta_3^4(\tau)z(z-x)(1-xz)},$$
(2.20)

to derive

$$\langle T(z) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}_{2,x}}^{\alpha} = \frac{x(1-x^2)}{4z(z-x)(1-zx)} \partial_x \log Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau) + \frac{c}{12} \{t,z\},$$
 (2.21)

where we have also used the relation (A.11). The Schwarzian derivative can be easily evaluated using (2.20), yielding

$$\{t,z\} = \frac{3x^2(1+z^4) - 4(x+x^3)(z+z^3) + 2(2x^4+x^2+2)z^2}{8z^2(z-x)^2(1-xz)^2},$$
 (2.22)

and in particular the residue at $z \rightarrow x$ is

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\mathcal{C}_x} \{t, z\} dz = -\frac{1 - 2x^2}{4x (1 - x^2)} = -\frac{1}{8} \partial_x \log x^2 (1 - x^2).$$
(2.23)

Finally plugging the above in (2.15) we get

$$\partial_x \log \langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = \partial_x \log Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau) - \frac{c}{24} \partial_x \log x^2 (1-x^2).$$
(2.24)

Upon integration, we obtain

$$\left\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\right\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = \operatorname{const} \times \left[x^2(1-x^2)\right]^{-\frac{c}{24}} Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau).$$
(2.25)

In order to fix the multiplicative constant in the above relation, we consider the leading behaviour as *x* tends to zero. In this limit, we have $\text{Im } \tau \to +\infty$ and $q \to 0$, with the relation $q = e^{2i\pi\tau} \sim (x/4)^4$. Thus

$$Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau) = \langle \alpha | e^{i\pi\tau(L_0 + \bar{L}_0 - c/12)} | \alpha \rangle \underset{\operatorname{Im}\tau \to \infty}{\sim} q^{-c/24} g_{\alpha}^2, \qquad g_{\alpha} = |\langle \alpha | 0 \rangle|, \qquad (2.26)$$

where $|0\rangle$ is the normalized ground state wavefunction of the Hamiltonian with periodic boundary conditions. The twist operator σ is normalized so that

$$\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} \underset{x\to 0}{\sim} x^{-c/4},$$
 (2.27)

and hence the fully explicit relation (2.25) is

$$\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = g_{\alpha}^{-2} 2^{-\frac{c}{3}} \left[x^2(1-x^2) \right]^{-\frac{c}{24}} Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau) \,.$$
(2.28)

Note that in the above equation we have assumed $x = \bar{x}$, with 0 < x < 1. For a generic complex *x* on the unit disk, the result still holds up to replacing *x* by |x| in the *r.h.s.* as well as in (2.7). Back to the original problem on the strip, we obtain

$$\langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v})\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{L}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = g_{\alpha}^{-2}2^{-\frac{c}{3}} \left[s_{L}(v+u)^{2}s_{L}(v-u)^{2}s_{L}(2u)s_{L}(2v) \right]^{-\frac{c}{24}} Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau), \quad (2.29)$$

and we get the announced result (1.8) for the second Rényi entropy.

2.3 Rényi Entropy of an interval touching the boundary

As a check for the formula (2.29), we want to recover the expression for the Rényi entropy S_2 of an interval $A = [0, \ell]$ touching the boundary of the chain [9, 63, 70, 71, 86]:

$$S_2^{\alpha}([0,\ell]) = \frac{c}{8} \log\left[\frac{2L}{\pi} \sin\left(\frac{\pi\ell}{L}\right)\right] + \log g_{\alpha}.$$
(2.30)

Let us consider the two-point function $\langle \sigma(u, \bar{u})\sigma(v, \bar{v}) \rangle_{\mathbb{S}_L}^{(\alpha, \alpha)}$ in the limit $u \to 0$. On the left-hand side of (2.29), we can use the bulk-boundary OPE:

$$\sigma(u,\bar{u}) \underset{u\to 0}{\sim} A^{\alpha}_{\sigma} (u+\bar{u})^{-c/8} \mathbb{I}, \qquad (2.31)$$

where $A^{\alpha}_{\sigma} = (g_{\alpha})^{-1}$ is the OPE coefficient for the bulk operator σ approaching a boundary with boundary condition α , and giving rise to the boundary identity operator \mathbb{I} . Hence, for *u* real:

$$\left\langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(\ell)\right\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{L}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} \underset{u\to 0}{\sim} (g_{\alpha})^{-1} (2u)^{-c/8} \left\langle \sigma(\ell)\right\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{L}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}.$$
(2.32)

On the right-hand side of (2.29), the limit $u \to 0$ corresponds to $x \to 1$ and $\tau \to 0$, with

$$\widetilde{q} = e^{-2i\pi/\tau} \sim \left(\frac{1-x^2}{16}\right)^2 \to 0.$$
(2.33)

In a rational CFT, the annulus partition function decomposes on the characters of primary representations V_k as

$$Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau) = \sum_{k} n_{\alpha\alpha}^{k} \, \chi_{k}(-1/\tau), \qquad \chi_{k}(\tau) = \operatorname{Tr}_{V_{k}}\left(q^{L_{0}-c/24}\right). \tag{2.34}$$

In the limit $\tilde{q} \to 0$, we get $Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau) \sim n_{\alpha\alpha}^0 \tilde{q}^{-c/24}$, where k = 0 stands for the identity operator, and $n_{\alpha\alpha}^0 = 1$, since we assumed a non-degenerate ground state $|\psi_0\rangle$. Thus

$$Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau) \sim \left(\frac{1-x^2}{16}\right)^{-c/12} \sim 2^{\frac{c}{4}} \left(\frac{s_L^2(\nu)}{us_L(2\nu)}\right)^{\frac{c}{12}},$$
(2.35)

where we have used (2.4) to obtain the second relation. After some simple algebra, one gets for the right-hand side of (2.29):

$$\langle \sigma(u)\sigma(v)\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_L}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} \underset{u\to 0}{\sim} g_{\alpha}^{-2} \left(\frac{1}{\frac{2L}{\pi}\sin\frac{\pi\ell}{L}}\right)^{c/8} (2u)^{-c/8}.$$
 (2.36)

Hence, comparing (2.32) and (2.36), we recover the well known one-point function

$$\langle \sigma(\ell) \rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{L}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = g_{\alpha}^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{\frac{2L}{\pi} \sin \frac{\pi\ell}{L}} \right)^{c/8}, \qquad (2.37)$$

which indeed yields (2.30).

2.4 Compact boson

We can further apply our main formula (1.8) by recovering the known results for the Dirac fermion [66,83,84] and more generally the compact boson [75]. We consider a compact scalar field $\phi \equiv \phi + 2\pi R$ with action

$$S[\phi] = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int d^2 r \,\partial_\mu \phi \,\partial^\mu \phi \,, \qquad (2.38)$$

and Dirichlet boundary conditions. The relevant annulus partition function is (see Appendix C)

$$Z(\tau) = \frac{\theta_3(-R^2/\tau)}{\eta(-1/\tau)}.$$
(2.39)

Before plugging this partition function into our main formula (1.8), let us write it as

$$Z(\tau) = \frac{\theta_3(-1/\tau)}{\eta(-1/\tau)} \times \frac{\theta_3(-R^2/\tau)}{\theta_3(-1/\tau)} = \frac{\theta_3(\tau)}{\eta(\tau)} \times \frac{\theta_3(-R^2/\tau)}{\theta_3(-1/\tau)}.$$
 (2.40)

Now using

$$\frac{\theta_3(\tau)}{\eta(\tau)} = 2^{1/3} \left[x^2 (1-x^2) \right]^{-\frac{1}{12}} = 2^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(\frac{s_L^2(\nu-u)s_L(2u)s_L(2\nu)}{s_L^4(\nu+u)} \right)^{-\frac{1}{12}}, \quad (2.41)$$

we find (up to an additive constant)

$$S_2^{\alpha}([u,v]) = \frac{1}{8} \log \frac{s_L(2u)s_L(2v)s_L^2(v-u)}{s_L^2(v+u)} - \log \mathcal{F}_2(\tau), \qquad (2.42)$$

where the function $\mathcal{F}_2(\tau)$ is given by

$$\mathcal{F}_{2}(\tau) = \frac{\theta_{3}(-R^{2}/\tau)}{\theta_{3}(-1/\tau)} = \frac{\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \exp\left(-i\pi m^{2}R^{2}/\tau\right)}{\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \exp\left(-i\pi m^{2}/\tau\right)}.$$
(2.43)

This is equivalent to the formulae (13) and (18) of [75] provided $\overline{\mathcal{M}} = i\pi/4\tau$ in (18) [although we note a typo in the first term of (13)], and the result for the Dirac fermion [namely $\mathcal{F}_2(\tau) = 1$ for R = 1] follows.

2.5 Other entanglement measures

In this section, we present two other entanglement measures related to the second Rényi entropy: mutual information and entropy distance. Here they are defined in the same context as considered above, namely in a critical 1d quantum system of finite size L, with open boundaries, and the same conformal boundary condition on both sides.

When considering two disjoint subsystems *A* and *B*, a standard measure of the information "shared" by *A* and *B* is given by the *mutual information* $I_{A:B}$, defined as (see [11] and references therein)

$$I_{A:B} = S_A + S_B - S_{A \cup B}, \qquad (2.44)$$

where *S* stands for a given measure of entanglement for a single subsystem. Using our result (1.8), we can express the mutual information (associated to the second Rényi entropy) of two intervals each touching a different boundary of the system, namely A = [0, u] and B = [v, L]. After some straightforward algebra on (1.8) and (2.30), we get

$$I_{[0,u]:[\nu,L]} = \frac{c}{12} \log \left[\frac{s(2u)s(2\nu)}{s(\nu+u)s(\nu-u)} \right] + \log Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau).$$
(2.45)

Back to the situation of a subsystem *A* consisting of a single interval [u, v] inside the bulk of the system, we turn to the question of quantifying how much the whole spectrum of the density



matrix ρ_A depends on the choice of external parameters (see [87] and references therein) – in the present case, the external parameter is the boundary condition. Here, we shall use the *n*-norm of an operator Λ , defined as

$$\|\Lambda\|_n = \left\{ \operatorname{Tr}\left[(\Lambda^{\dagger} \Lambda)^{n/2} \right] \right\}^{1/n}, \qquad (2.46)$$

and the associated Schatten distance³

$$D_n(\rho, \rho') = \|\rho - \rho'\|_n.$$
(2.47)

To be specific, we denote by $\rho_{A,\alpha}$ the reduced density matrix associated to the ground state of our finite critical systems with boundary conditions α on both sides of the system. Then we consider the Schatten distance $D_n(\rho_{A,\alpha}, \rho_{A,\beta})$, where α and β are two distinct conformal BCs. We restrict to the value n = 2, and we have

$$D_{2}(\rho_{A,\alpha},\rho_{A,\beta}) = \left[\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr}\rho_{A,\alpha}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr}\rho_{A,\beta}^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{A,\alpha}\rho_{A,\beta})\right]^{1/2}.$$
 (2.48)

The first two terms in (2.48) are given by (1.8), whereas the third term is obtained by a slight generalization of the previous discussion. Indeed, we can write this term as the two-twist correlation function

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{A,\alpha}\rho_{A,\beta}) = \langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v}) \rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{L}}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$$
(2.49)

on the infinite strip with BC α (resp. β) on both sides, for the first (resp. second) copy of the mother CFT in the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold. Through the same line of argument as in Section 2.2, we obtain

$$\langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v})\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{L}}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = (g_{\alpha}g_{\beta})^{-1}2^{-\frac{c}{3}} \left[s_{L}(v+u)^{2}s_{L}(v-u)^{2}s_{L}(2u)s_{L}(2v) \right]^{-\frac{c}{24}} Z_{\alpha|\beta}(\tau) . \quad (2.50)$$

As a result, we get

$$D_2(\rho_{A,\alpha},\rho_{A,\beta}) = 2^{-\frac{c}{6}} \left[s_L(\nu+u)^2 s_L(\nu-u)^2 s_L(2u) s_L(2\nu) \right]^{-\frac{1}{48}} K_{\alpha\beta}(\tau), \qquad (2.51)$$

where

$$K_{\alpha\beta}(\tau) = \left[\frac{Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau)}{2g_{\alpha}^{2}} + \frac{Z_{\beta|\beta}(\tau)}{2g_{\beta}^{2}} - \frac{Z_{\alpha|\beta}(\tau)}{g_{\alpha}g_{\beta}}\right]^{1/2}.$$
(2.52)

- 10

Plugging in the expression of the annulus partition function in terms of Ishibashi states (B.9)

$$Z_{\alpha|\beta}(\tau) = \langle \alpha | e^{i\pi\tau(L_0 + \tilde{L}_0 - c/12)} | \beta \rangle = \sum_j (\Psi_j^\alpha)^* \Psi_j^\beta \chi_j(\tau)$$
(2.53)

yields

$$K_{\alpha\beta}(\tau) = \left[\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j} \left|A_{j}^{\alpha} - A_{j}^{\beta}\right|^{2} \chi_{j}(\tau)\right]^{1/2}.$$
(2.54)

Interestingly the term j = 0 cancels out, as follows from $A_0^{\alpha} = A_0^{\beta} = 1$. This means that the vacuum sector does not contribute to the Schatten distance. Furthermore this last expression is rather suggestive : it is the distance associated to the following L^2 norm (weighted by the positive coefficients $\chi_i(\tau)/2$) on the A_i space

$$||A|| = \left[\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j} |A_{j}|^{2} \chi_{j}(\tau)\right]^{1/2}.$$
(2.55)

We shall now consider some limiting cases of the Schatten distance (2.51).

³While the most interesting distance is D_1 , it can be extremely difficult to evaluate directly. One can instead exploit a replica trick developed in [88, 89]: one first computes the distance D_n for all even n, followed by an analytic continuation to n = 1.

2.5.1 Small interval in the bulk

The limit of a very small interval in the bulk is recovered for $u \to v$, which corresponds to $q = e^{2i\pi\tau} \to 0$. In this regime we have

$$\chi_j(\tau) \sim q^{h_j - c/24}$$
. (2.56)

As mentioned above the term j = 0 does not contribute, so the L^2 norm (2.55) is dominated by the term j_0 corresponding to the most relevant state such that

$$A_{j_0}^{\alpha} \neq A_{j_0}^{\beta} \,. \tag{2.57}$$

Then

$$K_{\alpha\beta}(\tau) \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left| A_{j_0}^{\alpha} - A_{j_0}^{\beta} \right| q^{h_{j_0}/2 - c/48}, \qquad (2.58)$$

and in the limit of a small interval in the bulk ($\ell \rightarrow 0$) the Schatten distance behaves, up to a constant prefactor, as

$$D_2(\rho_{A,\alpha},\rho_{A,\beta}) \underset{\ell \to 0}{\sim} \ell^{2h_{j_0}-c/8} \frac{\left|A_{j_0}^{\alpha}-A_{j_0}^{\beta}\right|}{s_L(2\nu)^{2h_{j_0}}}.$$
(2.59)

2.5.2 Interval touching the boundary

In the limit $u \to 0$ (ν fixed), the parameter q goes to 1 so it is more convenient to work with $\tilde{q} = e^{-2i\pi/\tau}$. Thus we use expression (2.52) together with

$$Z_{\alpha|\beta}(\tau) = \sum_{k} n_{\alpha\beta}^{k} \, \chi_{k}(-1/\tau), \qquad \chi_{k}(-1/\tau) = \operatorname{Tr}_{V_{k}}\left(\tilde{q}^{L_{0}-c/24}\right) \underset{\tilde{q}\to 0}{\sim} \tilde{q}^{h_{k}-c/24}.$$
(2.60)

For the vacuum sector to propagate, the left and right conformal boundary conditions must be the same [90] :

$$n^0_{\alpha\beta} = \delta_{\alpha\beta} \,. \tag{2.61}$$

This implies that the identity character χ_0 does not appear in the expansion of $Z_{\alpha|\beta}(\tau)$ for $\alpha \neq \beta$. Thus, the leading order behaviour of the annulus partition function is:

$$Z_{\alpha|\beta}(\tau) \sim \tilde{q}^{-c/24+h_{k_0}},$$
 (2.62)

where k_0 corresponds to the most relevant state that can propagate with boundary conditions α on one side and β on the other. Equivalently, h_{k_0} is the lowest allowed conformal dimension in the spectrum of boundary changing operators between α and β . This implies that for an interval strictly touching the boundary the states $\rho_{A,\alpha}$ and $\rho_{A,\beta}$ simply become orthogonal

$$D_2(\rho_{A,\alpha}, \rho_{A,\beta}) \xrightarrow[u \to 0]{} \sqrt{\|\rho_{A,\alpha}\|^2 + \|\rho_{A,\beta}\|^2} \,.$$
(2.63)

Furthermore the vanishing of the scalar product between $\rho_{A,\alpha}$ and $\rho_{A,\beta}$ as $u \to 0$ is controlled by h_{k_0} :

$$\frac{\operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{A,\alpha}\rho_{A,\beta})}{\|\rho_{A,\alpha}\|\|\rho_{A,\beta}\|} = \frac{Z_{\alpha|\beta}(\tau)}{\sqrt{Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau)Z_{\beta|\beta}(\tau)}} \underset{u\to0}{\sim} u^{2h_{k_0}} \left(\frac{s_L(2\nu)}{8s_L^2(\nu)}\right)^{2h_{k_0}}.$$
(2.64)

3 Comparison with numerics and finite-size scaling

3.1 Rényi entropy in a quantum Ising chain

In order to compare the theoretical prediction obtained in Section 2 with numerical determinations of the Rényi entropy in a critical lattice model, we have focused on the model that was the most numerically accessible, *i.e.* the Ising spin chain with *free boundary conditions*, with Hamiltonian:

$$H_{\text{free}} = -\sum_{j=1}^{N-1} s_j^x s_{j+1}^x - h \sum_{j=1}^N s_j^z, \qquad (3.1)$$

where the s_j^a have their usual definition – they act as Pauli matrices σ^a at site *j* and trivially on the other sites of the system. The chain is taken to have length L = Na, where *a* is the lattice spacing, and *N* is the number of spins. The *scaling limit* of this system corresponds to taking $N \to \infty$ and $a \to 0$ while keeping the chain length *L* fixed. Finally, to achieve criticality, the external field *h* should be set to h = 1. We stress that both the *bulk* and the *boundary* of the chain are critical at this point in the parameter space of the model.

A convenient feature of this model is that it can be mapped to a fermionic chain through a Jordan-Wigner (JW) transformation

$$c_k^{\dagger} = \prod_{j=0}^{k-1} s_j^z s_k^+, \qquad s_k^{\pm} \equiv \frac{1}{2} (s_k^x \pm i s_k^y).$$
 (3.2)

Once the Hamiltonian of the fermionic chain has been obtained, one proceeds to find a basis of fermionic operators η_i , η_i^{\dagger} that diagonalizes it – and still satisfies the standard anticommutation relations $\{\eta_i, \eta_j^{\dagger}\} = \delta_{ij}$, etc. For free or periodic boundary conditions, the procedure is standard, and we refer the reader to the excellent review [91]. Having found the diagonal fermionic basis η_i , η_i^{\dagger} one proceeds to build the correlation matrix $\mathbf{M} \equiv \langle \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \boldsymbol{\eta}^{\dagger} \rangle$ with $\boldsymbol{\eta} \equiv (\eta_1, \dots, \eta_N, \eta_1^{\dagger}, \dots, \eta_N^{\dagger})^T$. The eigenvalues of \mathbf{M} are simply related to the values of the entanglement spectrum, and thus one can calculate Rényi entropies for large sizes with an advantageous computational cost that scales as $\mathcal{O}(N)$ with the number N of spins in the system. This method, known in the literature as *Peschel's trick* [92, 93], has been employed in several works [67, 94] for both free and periodic boundary conditions, and we refer to them for detailed explanations of the implementation.

Due to the JW "strings" of s^z operators in (3.2), the relation between the fermionic and spin reduced density matrices of a given subsystem may be non-trivial [94,95]. For free and periodic BC though, the ground-state wavefunction has a well-defined *parity* of the fermion number, and, as a consequence, the fermionic and spin reduced density matrices of a single interval can be shown to coincide. The Peschel trick fails, however, for the case of fixed BC, where the above feature of the wavefunction no longer holds, as pointed out in [66]. There has been progress, however, in adapting the trick to fixed BC, for the case of an interval touching the boundary [66–68]. Extending the technique to efficiently find the entanglement spectrum for an interval A that does not touch the boundary is still an open problem.

To give concrete expressions to compare with the numerical data, we will quickly review some basic aspects of the CFT description of the critical Ising chain. It is well known that in the critical regime, the scaling limit of the infinite and periodic Ising chains is the Ising CFT, namely the CFT with central charge c = 1/2 and an operator spectrum consisting of three primary operators – the identity I, energy ε and spin operators σ – and their descendants [80]. The case of open boundaries is also well understood from the CFT perspective. There are three conformal boundary conditions for the Ising BCFT, which, in the framework of radial

quantization on the annulus, allow the construction of the following physical boundary states [59, 80]:

$$|f\rangle = |\mathbb{I}\rangle\rangle - |\epsilon\rangle\rangle \quad (free BC),$$
 (3.3)

$$|\pm\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|\mathbb{I}\rangle\rangle + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|\epsilon\rangle\rangle \pm \frac{1}{2^{1/4}}|\sigma\rangle\rangle \quad (fixed BC), \qquad (3.4)$$

where $|i\rangle\rangle$ denotes the Ishibashi state [59, 96] corresponding to the primary operator *i*. The physical boundary states $|\alpha\rangle$ are in one-to-one correspondence with the primary fields of the bulk CFT⁴: $|f\rangle \leftrightarrow \sigma$ and $|\pm\rangle \leftrightarrow \mathbb{I}/\varepsilon$. The annulus partition function for the Ising BCFT is compactly written in terms of Jacobi theta functions for all diagonal choices of BCs ($\alpha | \alpha$) and, in consequence, in terms of the parameter *x* defined in Section 2

$$Z_{f|f}(\tau) = \sqrt{\frac{\theta_3(\tau)}{\eta(\tau)}} = 2^{1/6} \left(x \sqrt{1 - x^2} \right)^{-\frac{1}{12}}.$$
(3.5)

and

$$Z_{+|+}(\tau) = Z_{-|-}(\tau) = \frac{\sqrt{\theta_3(\tau)} + \sqrt{\theta_3(\tau)}}{2\sqrt{\eta(\tau)}} = 2^{1/6} \frac{1 + x^{\frac{1}{4}}}{2} \left(x\sqrt{1 - x^2}\right)^{-\frac{1}{12}}.$$
 (3.6)

These relations allow us to express the orbifold two-point correlator on the disk in an elementary way:

$$\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(f,f)} = \left[|x|^{2}(1-|x|^{2})\right]^{-\frac{1}{8}},$$
(3.7)

$$\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(+,+)} = \frac{1+|x|^{\frac{1}{4}}}{2} \left[|x|^2(1-|x|^2) \right]^{-\frac{1}{8}},$$
 (3.8)

which is, of course, very convenient for numerical checks. Note that the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of the Ising model is equivalent to a special case of the critical Ashkin-Teller model [98]. Therefore, the CFT we are considering here is nothing but the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of a free boson. This might explain why the above two-point functions end up being so simple.

Recall that the lattice operator $\hat{\sigma}_{m,n}$ labelled by discrete indices is described in the scaling limit by $\hat{\sigma}_{m,n} \sim A a^{h_{\sigma} + \bar{h}_{\sigma}} \sigma(w, \bar{w})$, where w = am + ian, and A is a non-universal amplitude. Hence, to obtain collapsed data for various chain lengths, it will be convenient to introduce

$$\mathcal{G}_{2}^{\alpha}([j,k]) \equiv \widehat{S}_{2}^{\alpha}([j,k]) - \frac{1}{8} \log\left(\frac{2N}{\pi}\right) = -\log\langle\widehat{\sigma}_{j,0}\widehat{\sigma}_{k,0}\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{L}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} - \frac{1}{8}\log\left(\frac{2N}{\pi}\right), \quad (3.9)$$

so that, in the scaling limit, one expects from (2.11)

$$\mathcal{G}_{2}^{\alpha}([j,k]) \sim -\log\langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v}\rangle_{\mathbb{S}_{L}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} - \frac{1}{8}\log\left(\frac{2L}{\pi}\right)$$
(3.10)

$$\sim -\log\langle\sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v}\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} + \frac{1}{8}\log\left[\sin\frac{\pi(u+v)}{2L}\right],$$
 (3.11)

where u = aj and v = ak. We remind that the length of the interval is given by $\ell = v - u = am$ with m = k - j, and emphasize that the entanglement is considered for the *ground state* of the free BC Ising chain.

To graphically emphasize the agreement between the fermionic chain data and the theoretical prediction, we have looked at two ways of "growing" the interval length ℓ . In Figure 3, we have considered an interval that starts in the middle of the chain and grows towards one end. This corresponds on the lattice to applying the first twist operator to the middle of the chain, and the second one progressively closer to the right boundary. Since twist operators



Figure 3: Plot of shifted Rényi entropy $\mathcal{G}_2^f([N/2, N/2 + m])$ for the Ising chain with free BC, against the scaled interval size m/N. The deviations from the theoretical predictions are stronger as the interval grows closer to the boundary.



Figure 4: Plot of shifted Rényi entropy $\mathcal{G}_2^f([N-m)/2, (N+m)/2])$ for the Ising chain with free BC, against the scaled interval size m/N. The deviations from the theoretical predictions are stronger as the interval is grown towards the boundaries.

are placed *between lattice sites*, one should consider even system sizes. The curves of Figure 4, follow the dependence of the S_2 entropy as the interval length ℓ is grown equidistantly from the middle of the chain towards the boundaries. We see, in both cases, that the agreement with the CFT prediction is very good, although, as we will detail below, one needs to consider unusually large system sizes to reach it.

⁴This statement is strictly true if the bulk CFT is diagonal, see [97] for a detailed discussion.



Figure 5: Plot of shifted Rényi entropy $\mathcal{G}_2^f([(N-m)/2, (N+m)/2])$ for a wide range of system sizes. The sizes typically accessible to exact diagonalization ($N \sim 10$) or DMRG methods ($N \sim 10^3$) suffer from large finite-size effects.

3.2 Finite-size effects

There is a plethora of sources of finite-size corrections to the orbifold CFT result calculated in Section 2. One should be aware of corrections from irrelevant *bulk* and *boundary* deformations of the Hamiltonian [99], as well as unusual corrections to scaling as analysed in [100, 101]. Finally, one should generically worry about parity effects [102] but, in agreement with [103], we have found no such corrections in the numerical results.

The strongest corrections, however, come from the subleading scaling of the lattice twist operators [52]. We remind that the lattice twist operator $\hat{\sigma}$ can be expressed, in the continuum limit $a \rightarrow 0$ as a *local* combination of scaling operators [104]:

$$\widehat{\sigma}_{m,n} = A a^{2h_{\sigma}} \sigma(w, \bar{w}) + B a^{2h_{\sigma_{\varepsilon}}} \sigma_{\varepsilon}(w, \bar{w}) + \dots, \qquad (3.12)$$

where the integers (m, n) give the lattice position of the operator as w = a(m + in), and the dots in (3.12) denote the contribution from descendant operators. The amplitudes *A* and *B* of the scaling fields are non-universal, and thus cannot be inferred from CFT methods. However, since the expansion (3.12) does not depend on the global properties of the system, it is independent of the choice of BC. Using the exact results for the correlation matrix **M** of the fermionic system associated with an infinite Ising chain [8], and the well-known result for the Rényi entropies of an interval of length ℓ in an infinite system [3,9], one can find a fit for the values of *A* and *B*.

Moving on, the *excited twist operator* σ_{ε} can be defined through point-splitting as [52], [105]:

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}(w,\bar{w}) := \lim_{\eta \to w} \left[(2|\eta - w|)^{2h_{\varepsilon}} \sigma(w,\bar{w})(\varepsilon(\eta,\bar{\eta}) \otimes \mathbb{I}) \right].$$
(3.13)

This operator has conformal dimensions $h_{\sigma_{\varepsilon}} = \bar{h}_{\sigma_{\varepsilon}} = h_{\sigma} + h_{\varepsilon}/2$. The expansion (3.12) implies that in our case, the correlator of twist operators on the Ising spin chain with free boundary

conditions can be expressed in terms of CFT correlators as:

$$\langle \widehat{\sigma}_{j,0} \, \widehat{\sigma}_{k,0} \rangle_N^{(f,f)} = A^2 \, a^{4h_\sigma} \, \langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v}) \rangle_{\mathbb{S}_L}^{(f,f)} + AB \, a^{4h_\sigma+h_\varepsilon} \left[\langle \sigma_\varepsilon(u,\bar{u})\sigma(v,\bar{v}) \rangle_{\mathbb{S}_L}^{(f,f)} + \langle \sigma(u,\bar{u})\sigma_\varepsilon(v,\bar{v}) \rangle_{\mathbb{S}_L}^{(f,f)} \right] + \dots$$

$$(3.14)$$

Using the map (2.3), and recalling that L = Na, we get

$$\langle \widehat{\sigma}_{j,0} \, \widehat{\sigma}_{k,0} \rangle_N^{(f,f)} = A^2 \left(\frac{\pi}{2N} \right)^{c/4} \frac{\langle \sigma(0,0) \sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(f,f)}}{\left[\sin \frac{\pi(u+\nu)}{2L} \right]^{c/4}} + AB \left(\frac{\pi}{2N} \right)^{c/4+h_{\varepsilon}} G_L(u,\nu) + \dots, \quad (3.15)$$

where u = aj and v = ak are the physical positions of the twist operators, and x is given by (2.4). The first term in the right-hand side of (3.15) corresponds to the two-point function (2.29), whereas the function $G_L(u, v)$ in the second term is defined as

$$G_{L}(u,v) = \frac{y^{-h_{\varepsilon}} \langle \sigma_{\varepsilon}(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(f,f)} + y^{h_{\varepsilon}} \langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma_{\varepsilon}(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(f,f)}}{\left[\sin\frac{\pi(u+v)}{2L}\right]^{c/4+h_{\varepsilon}}},$$
(3.16)

with $y = \sin \frac{\pi u}{L} / \sin \frac{\pi (u+v)}{2L}$. The exact determination of the function $G_L(u, v)$ is beyond the scope of the present work – for instance, through a conformal mapping, it would imply the calculation of the one-point function of the energy operator on the annulus. Since, in the Ising CFT, we have $h_{\varepsilon} = 1/2$, this second term gives a correction of order $1/\sqrt{N}$ to the Rényi entropy predicted by (1.8), which is in agreement with the results of [66,71,100]. This is a very significant correction, and it shows why the system sizes accessible through exact diagonalization (limited to N < 30) are not sufficient to separate the leading contribution from its subleading corrections.

To show the dramatic effect of this term, Figure 5 contains a comparison of the collapse for diverse system sizes. As noticed in other works [63], where DMRG methods were used, system sizes of $N \sim 100$ are not enough to satisfyingly collapse the data.

Furthermore, the module organization of the fields in the orbifold CFT implies that the scaling exponents of finite-size corrections are half-integer spaced: there will be contributions both at relative order $\mathcal{O}(N^{-1})$, and $\mathcal{O}(N^{-3/2})$, and so on. This increases the difficulty of a finite-size analysis, since there are more terms with significant contributions for the system sizes that are numerically accessible. To illustrate this, we give in Figure 6 a plot of the subleading contributions to the lattice twist correlator

$$F_{\text{subleading}}(j,k) = \langle \widehat{\sigma}_{j,0} \, \widehat{\sigma}_{k,0} \rangle_N^{(f,f)} - A^2 \left(\frac{\pi}{2N}\right)^{c/4} \frac{\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x}) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(f,f)}}{\left[\sin\frac{\pi(u+\nu)}{2L}\right]^{c/4}}.$$
(3.17)

The plot shows that even at $N \sim 10^3$ the collapse is not perfect.

4 Conclusion

In this article, we have reported exact results for the Rényi entropy S_2 of a single interval in the ground state of a 1D critical system with open boundaries, assuming the same boundary conditions on both sides. This amounts to computing the two-point function of twist operators in the unit disk with diagonal BCs (α , α) in the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold framework.



Figure 6: The rescaled subleading contribution $(2N/\pi)^{c/4+h_e}F_{\text{subleading}}$ to the lattice two-point function of twist fields, for an interval starting in the middle of the chain and growing towards one boundary. The plot shows that even at large system sizes, the finite-size corrections are significant.

By constructing a biholomorphic mapping from the annulus to the two-sheeted disk, we have managed to express the orbifold two-point correlator of twist fields in terms of the annulus partition function of the mother CFT. We have also detailed in the Appendix an alternative derivation of the result for minimal CFTs in the *A*-series.

We have numerically checked the CFT result, and found good agreement with Ising spin chain data, for free BC. It was, however, necessary to achieve large system sizes for this purpose, as the finite-size corrections decayed slowly (~ $N^{-h_{\varepsilon}}$ relatively to the dominant term) with the number of sites, as opposed to the case of an interval in a periodic chain, where this decay is of order $N^{-2h_{\varepsilon}}$ (see [52] for instance). Checking the result for other models and BCs could be achievable through more sophisticated numerical techniques, like (adaptations of) the DMRG approach (see [63, 106]).

A natural extension would be to consider the second Rényi entropy for a system with different conformal BCs on each side of the strip. However, this situation adds the extra complication of insertions of boundary condition changing operators (BCCOs) into the correlator of twist operators [85], thus requiring a calculation of the four-point function of boundary operators on the two-sheeted disk.

Acknowledgments

The authors are thankful to J.M. Stéphan for suggesting the Peschel trick to study the entanglement entropy of the Ising chain. We also acknowledge P. Calabrese, J. Dubail, R. Santachiara, E. Tonni, M. Rajabpour and J. Viti for their useful comments on the manuscript.

A Conventions and identities for elliptic functions

In this Appendix, we fix our notations and conventions for elliptic functions.

A.1 Jacobi theta functions

We use the following conventions for the Jacobi theta functions $\theta_i(t|\tau)$:

$$\theta_{1}(t|\tau) = -i \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z} + 1/2} (-1)^{r-1/2} y^{r} q^{r^{2}/2}, \qquad \theta_{2}(t|\tau) = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z} + 1/2} y^{r} q^{r^{2}/2}, \theta_{3}(t|\tau) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} y^{n} q^{n^{2}/2}, \qquad \theta_{4}(t|\tau) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{n} y^{n} q^{n^{2}/2},$$
(A.1)

where $q = e^{2i\pi\tau}$ and $y = e^{2i\pi\tau}$. Here, *t* is a complex variable and τ a complex parameter living in the upper half-plane. Theta functions have a single zero, located at $z = 0, 1/2, (1+\tau)/2$ and $\tau/2$, respectively. They have no pole. Using Jacobi's triple product identity one can rewrite them as

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{1}(t|\tau) &= -iy^{1/2}q^{1/8} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{n}) \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} (1-yq^{n+1})(1-y^{-1}q^{n}), \\ \theta_{2}(t|\tau) &= y^{1/2}q^{1/8} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{n}) \prod_{n=0}^{\infty} (1+yq^{n+1})(1+y^{-1}q^{n}), \\ \theta_{3}(t|\tau) &= \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{n}) \prod_{r\in\mathbb{N}+1/2}^{\infty} (1+yq^{r})(1+y^{-1}q^{r}), \\ \theta_{4}(t|\tau) &= \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{n}) \prod_{r\in\mathbb{N}+1/2}^{\infty} (1-yq^{r})(1-y^{-1}q^{r}). \end{aligned}$$
(A.2)

They satisfy the following half-period relations

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_{1}(t|\tau) &= -i \, e^{i\pi(t+\tau/4)} \, \theta_{4}(t+\tau/2|\tau), \\ \theta_{2}(t|\tau) &= e^{i\pi(t+\tau/4)} \, \theta_{3}(t+\tau/2|\tau), \\ \theta_{3}(t|\tau) &= e^{i\pi(t+\tau/4)} \, \theta_{2}(t+\tau/2|\tau), \\ \theta_{4}(t|\tau) &= -i \, e^{i\pi(t+\tau/4)} \, \theta_{1}(t+\tau/2|\tau). \end{aligned}$$
(A.3)

The functions $\theta_i(0|\tau) \equiv \theta_i(\tau)$ are

$$\theta_{2}(\tau) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{(n+1/2)^{2}/2} = 2q^{1/8} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{n})(1+q^{n})^{2} ,$$

$$\theta_{3}(\tau) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{n^{2}/2} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{n}) \left(1+q^{n-1/2}\right)^{2} ,$$

$$\theta_{4}(\tau) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{n} q^{n^{2}/2} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{n}) \left(1-q^{n-1/2}\right)^{2} .$$

(A.4)

Finally, we note the following relations

$$\theta_3^4(\tau) = \theta_2^4(\tau) + \theta_4^4(\tau), \qquad 2\eta^3(\tau) = \theta_2(\tau)\theta_3(\tau)\theta_4(\tau),$$
 (A.5)

where $\eta(\tau)$ is the Dedekind eta function :

$$\eta(\tau) = q^{\frac{1}{24}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^n).$$
(A.6)

A.2 Elliptic integral of the first kind

The elliptic integral of the first kind K(x) is given by:

$$K(x) = \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{\sqrt{1 - x^2 \sin^2 \theta}} = \frac{\pi}{2} \,_2 F_1\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 1; x^2\right) = \frac{\pi}{2} \,_3^2(\tau). \tag{A.7}$$

This means

$$x = \frac{\theta_2^2(\tau)}{\theta_3^2(\tau)}.$$
 (A.8)

The parameter x is called the elliptic modulus. The inverse relation is

$$q = e^{2i\pi\tau} = \exp\left(-2\pi \frac{K(x')}{K(x)}\right), \qquad x' = \sqrt{1-x^2},$$
 (A.9)

or equivalently

$$\tau = i \frac{K(\sqrt{1 - x^2})}{K(x)}.$$
 (A.10)

In particular one can check that

$$x(1-x^2)\frac{d\tau}{dx} = \frac{2}{i\pi\theta_3^4(\tau)}.$$
 (A.11)

A.3 Weierstrass elliptic function

One possible way to derive the differential equation (2.20) is to express the function g(t) defined in (2.5) in terms of the Weierstrass elliptic function $\wp(t)$. The function $\wp : \mathbb{T}_{\tau} \to \widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ is defined on the complex torus $\mathbb{T}_{\tau} = \mathbb{C}/(\mathbb{Z} + \tau\mathbb{Z})$ and takes values in the Riemann sphere $\widehat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$:

$$\wp(t) = \frac{1}{t^2} + \sum_{(m,n) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus (0,0)} \frac{1}{(t-m-n\tau)^2} - \frac{1}{(m+n\tau)^2} \,. \tag{A.12}$$

This is a covering map of the two-sphere $\widehat{\mathbb{C}}$ with 4 ramification points :

$$e_1 = \wp(1/2), \qquad e_2 = \wp\left(\frac{1+\tau}{2}\right), \qquad e_3 = \wp\left(\frac{\tau}{2}\right), \qquad \infty = \wp(0).$$
 (A.13)

The lattice roots e_i can be expressed in terms of the theta functions as :

$$e_{1} = \frac{\pi^{2}}{3} \left(\theta_{2}^{4}(\tau) + 2\theta_{4}^{4}(\tau) \right), \quad e_{2} = \frac{\pi^{2}}{3} \left(\theta_{2}^{4}(\tau) - \theta_{4}^{4}(\tau) \right), \quad e_{3} = -\frac{\pi^{2}}{3} \left(2\theta_{2}^{4}(\tau) + \theta_{4}^{4}(\tau) \right). \tag{A.14}$$

The function g(t) as defined in (2.5) is simply the composition of $\wp(t)$ with a particular Möbius transformation that sends the ramification points to 0, 1/x, x and ∞ :

$$g(t) = \frac{1}{x} \frac{\rho(t) - e_3}{e_1 - e_3}, \qquad x = \sqrt{\frac{e_2 - e_3}{e_1 - e_3}} = \left(\frac{\theta_2(\tau)}{\theta_3(\tau)}\right)^2, \tag{A.15}$$

as follows from the fact that $(\wp(t)-e_3)/g(t)$ is constant by virtue of being doubly periodic and holomorphic (*i.e.* with no pole). Now from the differential equation obeyed by $\wp(t)$, namely

$$\wp^{\prime 2}(t) = 4(\wp(t) - e_1)(\wp(t) - e_2)(\wp(t) - e_3), \qquad (A.16)$$

we get

$$\left(\frac{dg}{dt}\right)^2 = -4\pi^2 \theta_3^4(\tau) g(g-x)(1-xg),$$
(A.17)

from which (2.20) follows.

B Alternative derivation of the second Rényi entropy for *A_n* minimal models

In this Appendix we present an alternative computation of the two-twist correlation function (2.28) based on the mirror trick [59] and BCFT bootstrap methods [85]. The conformal blocks are obtained in terms of the modular characters (see also [52,82]). The other key ingredients are the bulk and bulk-boundary structure constants appearing in the conformal block expansion. We note that the correspondence between conformal blocks and characters has also been employed in the recent work of [107] for the evaluation of twist correlators on manifolds without boundaries.

In order to avoid some technicalities, we restrict our attention to Virasoro minimal models in the A_n series, for which the torus partition function is a diagonal modular invariant. On the unit disk, the mirror trick amounts to replacing the disk by its Schottky double [108], namely a sphere, and bulk fields $\phi(z, \bar{z})$ by a pair of chiral fields, one at position z and the other at its mirror image $1/\bar{z}$:

$$\phi(z,\bar{z}) \to \phi(z)\bar{z}^{-2h}\phi(1/\bar{z}). \tag{B.1}$$

Thus we can decompose $\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}$ as a linear combination of conformal blocks on the sphere

$$\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = \sum_{j} X_{j}^{\alpha} f_{j}(x,\bar{x}),$$
 (B.2)

$$f_j(x,\bar{x}) = \bar{x}^{-2h_\sigma} \xrightarrow[\sigma(x)]{\phi_j \otimes \phi_j} \xrightarrow[\sigma(\infty)]{\sigma(x)} . \tag{B.3}$$

Indeed, for the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of a minimal model in the A_n series, the fusion $\sigma \times \sigma$ is of the form [52]

$$\sigma \times \sigma = \sum_{\phi_j \text{ primary}} \phi_j \otimes \phi_j, \qquad (B.4)$$

where the sum runs over the primary operators of the mother CFT. We shall denote by h_j the conformal dimension of ϕ_j (recall that for A_n minimal models, all primary operators are scalar, so $\bar{h}_j = h_j$). The expansion coefficients X_j^{α} in (B.2) are obtained in terms of OPE structure constants as

$$X_{j}^{\alpha} = C_{\sigma\sigma}^{\phi_{j}\otimes\phi_{j}} A_{\phi_{j}\otimes\phi_{j}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}, \tag{B.5}$$

which in turn can be expressed as [82]

$$A_{\phi_j \otimes \phi_j}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = \langle (\phi_j \otimes \phi_j)(0) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = \left(\langle \phi_j(0) \rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{\alpha} \right)^2 = \left(A_j^{\alpha} \right)^2, \tag{B.6}$$

$$C_{\sigma\sigma}^{\phi_j \otimes \phi_j} = \langle \sigma(\infty)(\phi_j \otimes \phi_j)(1)\sigma(0) \rangle_{\mathbb{C}} = 2^{-4h_j} \langle \phi_j(-1)\phi_j(1) \rangle_{\mathbb{C}} = 2^{-8h_j}, \qquad (B.7)$$

so that

$$X_j^{\alpha} = 2^{-8h_j} (A_j^{\alpha})^2.$$
 (B.8)

The OPE coefficient A_j^{α} is very much related to coefficients Ψ_j^{α} appearing in the decomposition of the boundary state $|\alpha\rangle$ in terms of the Ishibashi states $|j\rangle\rangle$:

$$A_{j}^{\alpha} = \frac{\Psi_{j}^{\alpha}}{\Psi_{0}^{\alpha}}, \qquad |\alpha\rangle = \sum_{j} \Psi_{j}^{\alpha} |j\rangle\rangle.$$
(B.9)

For minimal models in the A_n series, these coefficients are given in terms of the modular *S*-matrix elements [109]:

$$\Psi_{j}^{\alpha} = \frac{S_{j\alpha}}{\sqrt{S_{0j}}}, \qquad A_{j}^{\alpha} = \frac{S_{j\alpha}}{S_{0\alpha}} \sqrt{\frac{S_{00}}{S_{j0}}}, \qquad (B.10)$$

where the index 0 corresponds to the identity operator.

Let us turn to the expression of the conformal blocks f_j in terms of the characters of the mother CFT. By a simple rescaling we have

$$f_j(x,\bar{x}) = \mathcal{F}_j(\eta), \qquad \eta = |x|^2, \tag{B.11}$$

where $\mathcal{F}_{j}(\eta)$ is the standard conformal block

$$\mathcal{F}_{j}(\eta) = \begin{array}{c} \sigma(0) \\ \phi_{j} \otimes \phi_{j} \\ \sigma(\eta) \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \sigma(\infty) \\ \sigma(1) \end{array}$$
(B.12)

These conformal blocks are known [82] to be related to the characters $\chi_j(\tau)$ of the mother theory via

$$\mathcal{F}_{j}(\eta) = 2^{8h_{j}-c/3} \left[\eta \left(1-\eta\right) \right]^{-c/24} \chi_{j}(\tau), \qquad \eta = \left[\theta_{2}(\tau)/\theta_{3}(\tau) \right]^{4}. \tag{B.13}$$

Assembling the above results, we obtain the expression

$$\langle \sigma(0,0)\sigma(x,\bar{x})\rangle_{\mathbb{D}}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = 2^{-\frac{c}{3}} \left[|x|^2 (1-|x|^2) \right]^{-\frac{c}{24}} \sum_j (A_j^{\alpha})^2 \,\chi_j(\tau). \tag{B.14}$$

The last step is to relate the above linear combination of characters to the annulus partition function:

$$Z_{\alpha|\alpha}(\tau) = \langle \alpha | e^{i\pi\tau(L_0 + \bar{L}_0 - c/12)} | \alpha \rangle = \sum_j (\Psi_j^{\alpha})^2 \langle \langle j | e^{i\pi\tau(L_0 + \bar{L}_0 - c/12)} | j \rangle \rangle = \sum_j (\Psi_j^{\alpha})^2 \chi_j(\tau), \quad (B.15)$$

using (B.9), and $g_{\alpha} = \Psi_0^{\alpha}$.

C Annulus partition function for the compact boson

For the following discussion, it is useful to have in mind a lattice model whose scaling limit is given by the free compact boson – we take for example the six-vertex (6V) model on the square lattice. It is well established (see [110] for instance) that the 6V model with homogeneous Boltzmann weights

is critical in the regime

$$|\Delta| < 1, \qquad \Delta = \frac{a^2 + b^2 - c^2}{2ab},$$
 (C.1)

and is described in the scaling limit by a free compact boson with action

$$S[\phi] = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int d^2 r \,\partial_\mu \phi \,\partial^\mu \phi \,, \qquad \phi \equiv \phi + 2\pi R \,, \tag{C.2}$$

where the compactification radius is given by $R = \sqrt{(2/\pi) \cos^{-1} \Delta}$. We consider the 6V model on a rectangle of $M \times N$ sites, with periodic boundary conditions in the horizontal direction, and reflecting boundary conditions at the top and bottom edges, for even M, N. Any 6V configuration defines (up to a global shift) a height function on the dual lattice, with steps $\pm \pi R$ between neighbouring heights. Since the local arrow flux into each of the boundaries is zero, the height function is constant along each boundary, and it is periodic in the horizontal direction. However, there can be a flux of 2m arrows (with $m \in \mathbb{Z}$) going between the two boundaries, and hence the height difference between the boundaries is of the form $2\pi mR$. In the scaling limit $N, M \to \infty$ with $N/M = \text{Im } \tau/2$, the height function renormalizes to the free boson ϕ , and we get

$$Z_{6V}(M/N) \to \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} Z_{\alpha|\alpha+m}(\tau), \qquad (C.3)$$

where α is an arbitrary integer, and $Z_{\alpha|\beta}(\tau)$ denotes the partition function of (C.2) on the annulus of Figure 2 with Dirichlet boundary conditions $\phi(x, 0) = 2\pi R\alpha$ and $\phi(x, \text{Im } \tau/2) = 2\pi R\beta$. A path integral computation gives

$$Z_{\alpha|\beta}(\tau) = \frac{e^{-i\pi R^2 (\alpha-\beta)^2/\tau}}{\eta(-1/\tau)}.$$
 (C.4)

Hence, the scaling limit of the 6V partition function is

$$Z_{6V}(M/N) \to Z(\tau) = \frac{\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-i\pi R^2 m^2/\tau}}{\eta(-1/\tau)} = \frac{\theta_3(-R^2/\tau)}{\eta(-1/\tau)}.$$
 (C.5)

In the geometry of the infinite strip of width *N* sites, the 6V transfer matrix generates the XXZ spin-chain Hamiltonian

$$H_{\rm XXZ} = -\sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \left(s_j^x s_{j+1}^x + s_j^x s_{j+1}^x + \Delta s_j^z s_{j+1}^z \right), \tag{C.6}$$

where $s_j^{x,y,z}$ are Pauli matrices acting on site *j*. Reflecting boundary conditions for the 6V model (and thus Dirichlet boundary conditions for the boson) correspond to free boundary conditions on the spins.

References

- L. Bombelli, R. K. Koul, J. Lee and R. D. Sorkin, Quantum source of entropy for black holes, Phys. Rev. D 34, 373 (1986), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.34.373.
- [2] M. Srednicki, Entropy and area, Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, 666 (1993), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.71.666.
- [3] C. Callan and F. Wilczek, On geometric entropy, Phys. Lett. B 333, 55 (1994), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(94)91007-3.
- [4] T. Nishioka, S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, *Holographic entanglement entropy: An overview*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42, 504008 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/42/50/504008.
- [5] U. Schollwöck, *The density-matrix renormalization group in the age of matrix product states*, Ann. Phys. **326**, 96 (2011), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2010.09.012.
- [6] R. Orús, A practical introduction to tensor networks: Matrix product states and projected entangled pair states, Ann. Phys. **349**, 117 (2014), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2014.06.013.

- [7] R. Orús, Tensor networks for complex quantum systems, Nat. Rev. Phys. 1, 538 (2019), doi:10.1038/s42254-019-0086-7.
- [8] G. Vidal, J. I. Latorre, E. Rico and A. Kitaev, *Entanglement in quantum critical phenom*ena, Phys. Rev. Lett. **90**, 227902 (2003), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.90.227902.
- [9] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Entanglement entropy and quantum field theory*, J. Stat. Mech.: Theor. Exp. P06002 (2004), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2004/06/P06002.
- [10] M. Caraglio and F. Gliozzi, *Entanglement entropy and twist fields*, J. High Energy Phys. 11, 076 (2008), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/11/076.
- [11] S. Furukawa, V. Pasquier and J. Shiraishi, Mutual information and boson radius in c = 1 critical systems in one dimension, Phys. Rev. Lett. **102**, 170602 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.102.170602.
- [12] M. A. Metlitski, C. A. Fuertes and S. Sachdev, *Entanglement entropy in the O(N) model*, Phys. Rev. B 80, 115122 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.80.115122.
- [13] X. Chen, W. Witczak-Krempa, T. Faulkner and E. Fradkin, *Two-cylinder entanglement entropy under a twist*, J. Stat. Mech. 043104 (2017), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/aa668a.
- [14] W. Zhu, X. Chen, Y.-C. He and W. Witczak-Krempa, Entanglement signatures of emergent Dirac fermions: Kagome spin liquid and quantum criticality, Sci. Adv. 4, eaat5535 (2018), doi:10.1126/sciadv.aat5535.
- [15] V. Crépel, A. Hackenbroich, N. Regnault and B. Estienne, Universal signatures of Dirac fermions in entanglement and charge fluctuations, Phys. Rev. B 103, 235108 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.103.235108.
- [16] A. Kitaev and J. Preskill, *Topological entanglement entropy*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 110404 (2006), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.96.110404.
- [17] M. Levin and X.-G. Wen, Detecting topological order in a ground state wave function, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 110405 (2006), doi:10.1103/physrevlett.96.110405.
- [18] D. Varjas, M. P. Zaletel and J. E. Moore, Chiral Luttinger liquids and a generalized Luttinger theorem in fractional quantum Hall edges via finite-entanglement scaling, Phys. Rev. B 88, 155314 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.88.155314.
- [19] V. Crépel, N. Claussen, B. Estienne and N. Regnault, Model states for a class of chiral topological order interfaces, Nat. Commun. 10, 1861 (2019), doi:10.1038/s41467-019-09168-z.
- [20] V. Crépel, N. Claussen, N. Regnault and B. Estienne, *Microscopic study of the Halperin-Laughlin interface through matrix product states*, Nat. Commun. **10**, 1860 (2019), doi:10.1038/s41467-019-09169-y.
- [21] V. Crépel, B. Estienne and N. Regnault, *Variational Ansatz for an Abelian to non-Abelian topological phase transition in* v = 1/2 + 1/2 *bilayers*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123**, 126804 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.126804.
- [22] B. Estienne and J.-M. Stéphan, Entanglement spectroscopy of chiral edge modes in the quantum Hall effect, Phys. Rev. B 101, 115136 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.101.115136.

- [23] A. Hackenbroich, A. Hudomal, N. Schuch, B. Andrei Bernevig and N. Regnault, *Fractional chiral hinge insulator*, Phys. Rev. B 103, L161110 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.103.L161110.
- [24] B. Estienne, B. Oblak and J.-M. Stéphan, *Ergodic edge modes in the 4D quantum Hall effect*, SciPost Phys. **11**, 016 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.11.1.016.
- [25] L. Amico, R. Fazio, A. Osterloh and V. Vedral, *Entanglement in many-body systems*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 80, 517 (2008), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.80.517.
- [26] P. Calabrese, J. Cardy and B. Doyon, *Entanglement entropy in extended quantum systems*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42, 500301 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/42/50/500301.
- [27] J. Eisert, M. Cramer and M. B. Plenio, Colloquium: Area laws for the entanglement entropy, Rev. Mod. Phys. 82, 277 (2010), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.82.277.
- [28] N. Laflorencie, *Quantum entanglement in condensed matter systems*, Phys. Rep. **646**, 1 (2016), doi:10.1016/j.physrep.2016.06.008.
- [29] M. Headrick, Lectures on entanglement entropy in field theory and holography, arXiv:1907.08126.
- [30] P. Calabrese and A. Lefevre, *Entanglement spectrum in one-dimensional systems*, Phys. Rev. A **78**, 032329 (2008), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.78.032329.
- [31] T. Brydges, A. Elben, P. Jurcevic, B. Vermersch, C. Maier, B. P. Lanyon, P. Zoller, R. Blatt and C. F. Roos, *Probing Rényi entanglement entropy via randomized measurements*, Science 364, 260 (2019), doi:10.1126/science.aau4963.
- [32] M. Niknam, L. F. Santos and D. G. Cory, Experimental detection of the correlation Rényi entropy in the central spin model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 080401 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.127.080401.
- [33] A. Lukin, M. Rispoli, R. Schittko, M. Eric Tai, A. M. Kaufman, S. Choi, V. Khemani, J. Léonard and M. Greiner, *Probing entanglement in a many-body-localized system*, Science 364, 256 (2019), doi:10.1126/science.aau0818.
- [34] V. Vitale et al., *Symmetry-resolved dynamical purification in synthetic quantum matter*, SciPost Phys. **12**, 106 (2022), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.12.3.106.
- [35] A. Neven et al., Symmetry-resolved entanglement detection using partial transpose moments, npj Quantum Inf. 7, 152 (2021), doi:10.1038/s41534-021-00487-y.
- [36] D. Azses, R. Haenel, Y. Naveh, R. Raussendorf, E. Sela and E. G. Dalla Torre, *Identification of symmetry-protected topological states on noisy quantum computers*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125**, 120502 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.125.120502.
- [37] C. Holzhey, F. Larsen and F. Wilczek, *Geometric and renormalized entropy in conformal field theory*, Nucl. Phys. B **424**, 443 (1994), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(94)90402-2.
- [38] J. I. Latorre, E. Rico and G. Vidal, *Ground state entanglement in quantum spin chains*, Quant. Inf. Comput. **4**, 48 (2004), doi:10.26421/QIC4.1-4
- [39] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, *Entanglement entropy and conformal field theory*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42, 504005 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/42/50/504005.

- [40] P. Calabrese, J. Cardy and E. Tonni, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint intervals in conformal field theory, J. Stat. Mech., P11001 (2009), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2009/11/P11001.
- [41] M. A. Rajabpour and F. Gliozzi, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint intervals from fusion algebra of twist fields, J. Stat. Mech., P02016 (2012), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2012/02/P02016.
- [42] A. Coser, L. Tagliacozzo and E. Tonni, On Rényi entropies of disjoint intervals in conformal field theory, J. Stat. Mech., P01008 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/01/P01008.
- [43] P. Calabrese, J. Cardy and E. Tonni, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint intervals in conformal field theory: II, J. Stat. Mech., P01021 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/01/P01021.
- [44] V. Alba, L. Tagliacozzo and P. Calabrese, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint blocks in critical Ising models, Phys. Rev. B 81, 060411 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.81.060411.
- [45] V. Alba, L. Tagliacozzo and P. Calabrese, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint intervals in c = 1 theories, J. Stat. Mech., P06012 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/06/P06012.
- [46] S. Datta and J. R. David, Rényi entropies of free bosons on the torus and holography, J. High Energy Phys. 04, 081 (2014), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2014)081.
- [47] A. Coser, E. Tonni and P. Calabrese, Spin structures and entanglement of two disjoint intervals in conformal field theories, J. Stat. Mech., 053109 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/05/053109.
- [48] P. Ruggiero, E. Tonni and P. Calabrese, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint intervals and the recursion formula for conformal blocks, J. Stat. Mech., 113101 (2018), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/aae5a8.
- [49] L. Dixon, D. Friedan, E. Martinec and S. Shenker, *The conformal field theory of orbifolds*, Nucl. Phys. B 282, 13 (1987), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(87)90676-6.
- [50] L. Borisov, M. B. Halpern and C. Schweigert, *Systematic approach to cyclic orbifolds*, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 13, 125 (1998), doi:10.1142/S0217751X98000044.
- [51] A. Klemm and M. G. Schmidt, Orbifolds by cyclic permutations of tensor product conformal field theories, Phys. Lett. B 245, 53 (1990), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(90)90164-2.
- [52] T. Dupic, B. Estienne and Y. Ikhlef, Entanglement entropies of minimal models from nullvectors, SciPost Phys. 4, 031 (2018), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.4.6.031.
- [53] D. Bianchini, O. Castro-Alvaredo, B. Doyon, E. Levi and F. Ravanini, *Entanglement entropy of non-unitary conformal field theory*, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 48, 04FT01 (2014), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/48/4/04ft01.
- [54] N. Laflorencie and S. Rachel, Spin-resolved entanglement spectroscopy of critical spin chains and Luttinger liquids, J. Stat. Mech., P11013 (2014), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2014/11/p11013.
- [55] M. Goldstein and E. Sela, *Symmetry-resolved entanglement in many-body systems*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**, 200602 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.200602.

- [56] J. C. Xavier, F. C. Alcaraz and G. Sierra, *Equipartition of the entanglement entropy*, Phys. Rev. B 98, 041106 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.98.041106.
- [57] L. Capizzi, P. Ruggiero and P. Calabrese, *Symmetry resolved entanglement entropy of excited states in a CFT*, J. Stat. Mech. 073101 (2020), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/ab96b6.
- [58] B. Estienne, Y. Ikhlef and A. Morin-Duchesne, *Finite-size corrections in critical symmetry-resolved entanglement*, SciPost Phys. **10**, 054 (2021), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.10.3.054.
- [59] J. L. Cardy, Boundary conditions, fusion rules and the Verlinde formula, Nucl. Phys. B 324, 581 (1989), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(89)90521-X.
- [60] J. L. Cardy and D. C. Lewellen, *Bulk and boundary operators in conformal field theory*, Phys. Lett. B **259**, 274 (1991), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(91)90828-E.
- [61] J. L. Cardy and I. Peschel, Finite-size dependence of the free energy in two-dimensional critical systems, Nucl. Phys. B 300, 377 (1988), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(88)90604-9.
- [62] I. Affleck, N. Laflorencie and E. S. Sørensen, Entanglement entropy in quantum impurity systems and systems with boundaries, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 42, 504009 (2009), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/42/50/504009.
- [63] L. Taddia, J. C. Xavier, F. C. Alcaraz and G. Sierra, Entanglement entropies in conformal systems with boundaries, Phys. Rev. B 88, 075112 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.88.075112.
- [64] L. Taddia, *Entanglement entropies in one-dimensional systems*, Ph.D. thesis, Università degli studi di Bologna (2013), arXiv:1309.4003.
- [65] L. Taddia, F. Ortolani and T. Pálmai, Renyi entanglement entropies of descendant states in critical systems with boundaries: Conformal field theory and spin chains, J. Stat. Mech., 093104 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/09/093104.
- [66] M. Fagotti and P. Calabrese, Universal parity effects in the entanglement entropy of XX chains with open boundary conditions, J. Stat. Mech., P01017 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/01/P01017.
- [67] J. C. Xavier and M. A. Rajabpour, Entanglement and boundary entropy in quantum spin chains with arbitrary direction of the boundary magnetic fields, Phys. Rev. B 101, 235127 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.101.235127.
- [68] A. Jafarizadeh and M. A. Rajabpour, *Entanglement entropy in quantum spin chains with broken parity number symmetry*, arXiv:2109.06359.
- [69] R. Bonsignori and P. Calabrese, Boundary effects on symmetry resolved entanglement, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 54, 015005 (2020), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/abcc3a.
- [70] H.-Q. Zhou, T. Barthel, J. Ove Fjærestad and U. Schollwöck, Entanglement and boundary critical phenomena, Phys. Rev. A 74, 050305 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.74.050305.
- [71] N. Laflorencie, E. S. Sørensen, M.-S. Chang and I. Affleck, Boundary effects in the critical scaling of entanglement entropy in 1D systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 100603 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.96.100603.

- [72] J. Ren, S. Zhu and X. Hao, Entanglement entropy in an antiferromagnetic Heisenberg spin chain with boundary impurities, J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 42, 015504 (2008), doi:10.1088/0953-4075/42/1/015504.
- [73] J. Spalding, S.-W. Tsai and D. K. Campbell, Critical entanglement for the half-filled extended Hubbard model, Phys. Rev. B 99, 195445 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.99.195445.
- [74] I. Affleck and A. W. W. Ludwig, *Universal noninteger "ground-state degeneracy" in critical quantum systems*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **67**, 161 (1991), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.67.161.
- [75] A. Bastianello, *Rényi entanglement entropies for the compactified massless boson with open boundary conditions*, J. High Energy Phys., 141 (2019), doi:10.1007/jhep10(2019)141.
- [76] A. Bastianello, J. Dubail and J.-M. Stéphan, Entanglement entropies of inhomogeneous Luttinger liquids, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 53, 155001 (2020), doi:10.1088/1751-8121/ab7580.
- [77] J. Sully, M. Van Raamsdonk and D. Wakeham, BCFT entanglement entropy at large central charge and the black hole interior, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 167 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2021)167.
- [78] V. B. Petkova and J.-B. Zuber, *Generalised twisted partition functions*, Phys. Lett. B 504, 157 (2001), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(01)00276-3.
- [79] R. E. Behrend, P. A. Pearce, V. B. Petkova and J.-B. Zuber, Boundary conditions in rational conformal field theories, Nucl. Phys. B 570, 525 (2000), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(99)00592-1.
- [80] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu and D. Sénéchal, *Conformal field theory*, Springer New York, New York, US, ISBN 9781461274759 (1997), doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-2256-9.
- [81] O. Lunin and S. D. Mathur, *Correlation functions for* M^N/S_N *orbifolds*, Commun. Math. Phys. **219**, 399 (2001), doi:10.1007/s002200100431.
- [82] M. Headrick, Entanglement Rényi entropies in holographic theories, Phys. Rev. D 82, 126010 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.82.126010.
- [83] J. Dubail, J.-M. Stéphan, J. Viti and P. Calabrese, Conformal field theory for inhomogeneous one-dimensional quantum systems: The example of non-interacting Fermi gases, SciPost Phys. 2, 002 (2017), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.2.1.002.
- [84] M. Mintchev and E. Tonni, Modular Hamiltonians for the massless Dirac field in the presence of a boundary, J. High Energy Phys. 03, 204 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2021)204.
- [85] D. C. Lewellen, Sewing constraints for conformal field theories on surfaces with boundaries, Nucl. Phys. B 372, 654 (1992), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(92)90370-Q.
- [86] T. Barthel, M.-C. Chung and U. Schollwöck, Entanglement scaling in critical twodimensional fermionic and bosonic systems, Phys. Rev. A 74, 022329 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.74.022329.
- [87] L. Capizzi and P. Calabrese, Symmetry resolved relative entropies and distances in conformal field theory, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 195 (2021), doi:10.1007/jhep10(2021)195.

- [88] J. Zhang, P. Ruggiero and P. Calabrese, *Subsystem trace distance in quantum field theory*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 141602 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.141602.
- [89] J. Zhang, P. Ruggiero and P. Calabrese, Subsystem trace distance in low-lying states of (1 + 1)-dimensional conformal field theories, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 181 (2019), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2019)181.
- [90] R. E. Behrend, P. A. Pearce, V. B. Petkova and J.-B. Zuber, On the classification of bulk and boundary conformal field theories, Phys. Lett. B 444, 163 (1998), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(98)01374-4.
- [91] G. Bigan Mbeng, A. Russomanno and G. E. Santoro, *The quantum Ising chain for beginners*, arXiv:2009.09208.
- [92] M.-C. Chung and I. Peschel, *Density-matrix spectra of solvable fermionic systems*, Phys. Rev. B **64**, 064412 (2001), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.64.064412.
- [93] I. Peschel, Calculation of reduced density matrices from correlation functions, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 36, L205 (2003), doi:10.1088/0305-4470/36/14/101.
- [94] M. Fagotti and P. Calabrese, *Entanglement entropy of two disjoint blocks in XY chains*, J. Stat. Mech., P04016 (2010), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2010/04/P04016.
- [95] F. Iglói and I. Peschel, On reduced density matrices for disjoint subsystems, Europhys. Lett.
 89, 40001 (2010), doi:10.1209/0295-5075/89/40001.
- [96] N. Ishibashi, *The boundary and crosscap states in conformal field theories*, Mod. Phys. Lett. A **4**, 251 (1989), doi:10.1142/S0217732389000320.
- [97] I. Runkel, *Boundary problems in conformal field theory*, Ph.D. thesis, King's College London, (2000).
- [98] M. Oshikawa and I. Affleck, Boundary conformal field theory approach to the critical two-dimensional Ising model with a defect line, Nucl. Phys. B **495**, 533 (1997), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(97)00219-8.
- [99] K. Graham, I. Runkel and G.M.T. Watts, *Boundary flows for minimal models*, in Proceedings of non-perturbative quantum effects, Proc. Sci. **006**, 040 (2000), doi:10.22323/1.006.0040.
- [100] J. Cardy and P. Calabrese, Unusual corrections to scaling in entanglement entropy, J. Stat. Mech. P04023 (2010), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2010/04/p04023.
- [101] E. Eriksson and H. Johannesson, Corrections to scaling in entanglement entropy from boundary perturbations, J. Stat. Mech. P02008 (2011), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2011/02/P02008.
- [102] P. Calabrese, M. Campostrini, F. Essler and B. Nienhuis, Parity effects in the scaling of block entanglement in gapless spin chains, Phys. Rev. Lett. 104, 095701 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.104.095701.
- [103] J. C. Xavier and F. C. Alcaraz, *Finite-size corrections of the entanglement entropy of critical quantum chains*, Phys. Rev. B **85**, 024418 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.85.024418.
- [104] M. Henkel, *Conformal invariance and critical phenomena*, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, ISBN 9783662039373 (1999), doi:10.1007/978-3-662-03937-3

- [105] D. Horvath, P. Calabrese and O. Castro-Alvaredo, Branch point twist field form factors in the sine-Gordon model II: Composite twist fields and symmetry resolved entanglement, SciPost Phys. 12, 088 (2022), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.12.3.088.
- [106] A. Roy and H. Saleur, Entanglement entropy in critical quantum spin chains with boundaries and defects, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128, 090603 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.090603.
- [107] F. Ares, R. Santachiara and J. Viti, Crossing-symmetric twist field correlators and entanglement negativity in minimal CFTs, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 175 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2021)175.
- [108] C. Schweigert, J. Fuchs and J. Walcher, Conformal field theory, boundary conditions and applications to string theory, in Non-perturbative QFT methods and their applications, Proc. Johns Hopkins Workshop Curr. Probl. Part. Theory, World Scientific, Singapore, (2001), doi:10.1142/9789812799968 0002.
- [109] I. Runkel, Boundary structure constants for the A-series Virasoro minimal models, Nucl. Phys. B 549, 563 (1999), doi:10.1016/s0550-3213(99)00125-x.
- [110] B. Nienhuis, *Critical behavior of two-dimensional spin models and charge asymmetry in the Coulomb gas*, J. Stat. Phys. **34**, 731 (1984), doi:10.1007/BF01009437.